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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT F | L E D

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TLLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION AUG 2 @ 2007
MioH engiadl
ARL W. 5
UNITED STATES SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 07CV 4684
N JUDGE KOCORAS
MAGISTRATE JUDGE MASON
v 7 JURY DEMANDED ™

SENTINEL MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC.

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff United States Securitics and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”)
alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTTON

L. This action involves the ongoing fraud and misappropration and misusc of client
assets by the investment advisory {irm Sentinel Management Group, Inc. (“*Sentinel” or
“Defendant™). Sentincl, which claims to have $1.2 billion in assets under management,
defrauded its clients by improperly commingling, misappropriating and leveraging their
securities withoul their knowledge in violation of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940,
(“*Advisers Act”).

2. Sentinel’s fraudulent conduct has placed its clients at rsk of serious and
irreparable logs. Among its improper activities, Sentinel transferred at least $460 million m
securities from client investment accounts to Sentinel’s proprietary “house” account. Sentinel

also used securities from client accounis as collateral Lo oblain a $321 million line of credit as




o T

Case 1:07-cv-04684 Document1l  Filed 08/20/2007 Page 2 of 10

well as additional leveraged financing. The bank that cxtended the $321 million line of credit to
Sentinel informed Sentinel that it is in default under the credit agreemenit and therefore the bank
intends to sell securitics currently sitting in Sentinel’s “house” account that were pledged as
collateral fot the loan beginning as soon as August 22, 2007. The securities to be sold may
include securities that werc fraudulently transicrred to the “house” account from client accounts.
At the very lcast, Sentinel has not kept accurate books and records, required to be kept under the
federal securities laws, necessary to verify the ownership of the securities in its client and
“house” accounts and to prevent the firm from selling assets that it 1s not entitled to sell and
distributing the sale proceeds persons not entitled to receive them.

3. Sentinel did not disclose to its clicnts its practices of commingling, transferring
and misappropriating their assets, or inform them that their investment portfolios were highly-
leveraged as a result of Scntinel’s financing activitics. To the contrary, Sentincl provided its
clients with daily account statements that did not reflect the improper activities.

4. Through the activities alleged in this Complaint, Sentinel has, and unless
enjoined, will continue to, directly and indirectly, engage in transactions, acts, practices or
courses of business which are violations of Sections 206(1), 206(2) and 206(4) of thc Advisers
Act [15 UL8.C. § 80b-6(1), 80b-6(2) and 80b-6(4)], and Rule 206 (4)-2 promulgated thereunder
[17 C.F.R. 275.206(4)-2].

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. The SEC brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by Section
209(d) of the Invesiment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Advisers Act”™) [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d)].
6. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 214 of the Investment Advisers

Act of 1940 [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14] and 258 U.S.C. § 133].
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7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 214 of the Advisers Act [15
U.S.C. § 80b-141.

8. The acts, practices and courses of busiess constitating the violations alleged
herein occurred within the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Tllinois and clsewherc.

9. Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made, and are making, use of the means
and instrumentalitics of interstate commerce and of the mails in conncetion with the acts,
practices and courses of business alleged herein in the Northern District of Illinois and
elsewhere.

DEFENDANT

10, Sentinel, an Illinois corporation headquartered in Northbrook, llinois, provides
investment advisory and discretionary money management services to various types of client
clients, including financial institutions, private investment firms, pension funds and individuals.
Yentinel is an investment adviser registered with the SEC and a futures commission merchant
(“FCM™) registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”). It1s also a
member of National Futures Association (“NFA”), a sclf-regulatory organization. As of Augnst
13, 2007, Sentinel claimed to have $1.2 billion of client intcrests n assets under managemcnt.

FACTS

11.  Sentinel is a registcred investment adviscr that primarily managcs investments of
short-term cash for various advisory clients, including FCMs, hedge funds, financial instilutions,
pension funds, and individuals. Qentinel’s website claims that since 1979, Sentinel has “never
lost a dime of elicnt funds, or delayed even one day in returming the full amount of a clicnt’s cash

regardless of prevailing market conditions.” Additionally, Sentine] states that 1t “buys only the
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highest quality and most liguid securities.” Sentinel’s objective “is to achicve the highest yield
consistent with preservation of principal and daily liquidity, not simply the highest yield.” As of
August 13, 2007, Sentinel claimed to have $1.2 billion of client assets under management.

12. On August 13, 2007, Sentinel sent a letter to chents announcing that it was halting
all redemptions due to the “liquadity crisis™ in the credit markets. In the letter, Sentinel
represented that the “liquidity crigis” prevented Sentinel from meeting redemption requests
“without sclling securities at deep discounts to their fiir value and therefore causing unnecessary
losses™ to clients.

13.  Sentinel’s explanation of its redemption suspension was falsc and misleading. As
described below, for a period of at least several months up to and including the week of August
13, 2007, Sentinel’s advisory clients suffered undisclosed losses and risks of losses due to
Sentinel’s undisclosed use of leverage and commingling and misappropnation of clients’
securities. As of August 13, 2007, the account statements Sentinel provided to clients listed
hundreds of millions of dollars in sccuritics that were not held by Sentinel at all, were held by
Sentinel and treated as its own assets, or were pledged as collateral for loans extended to
Sentinel.

A. The Programs

14. Sentinel offered clients the opportunity to participate in a vanely of mvesiment
programs, each of which had its own investment policy designed to meet the requircments and
preferences of .differmlt types of clients. Regardless of which investment program a particular
client chose, Sentinel had the gencral practice of pooling the client’s asscts with those of similar
types of clients 1n one of three segregated client custodial accounts held at the Bank of New

York. The accounts were referred to within Sentinel as Seg 1, Seg 2 and Seg 3.
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15.  Seg 1 contained assets of registcred FCMs with only domestic customer deposits.
FCM:s are futures brokers that are members of the NFA and investments are subject to the rules
of the CFTC. The customer deposit accounts arc required to adherc to strict investment standards
embodied in Rule 1.25 promuigated under the Commodities Futures Trading Act and are
commonly referred to as “125 accounts.” Seg 2 contained assets of FCMs with foreign cuslomer
deposits. Scg 3 contained assets of all other types of clients, including hedge funds, trust
accounts, endowments and individuals.

16.  Under Rule 206(4)-2 promulgated undcr the Advisers Act, a registered investment
adviser such as Sentinel is not allowed to have custody of any client funds or secunties unless,
among other requitcments, the funds and securilies are held in segregated accounts that hold only
clicnts® funds and securities. Sentinel routinely violated this requirement, by commingling and
transferring client funds and sccurities between the various clicnt segregated accounts and
hetween client accounts and a “house™ account, which also contained securitics which Sentinel

claimed it owned.

B. Sentinel’s Representations to Clients
17. Sentinel made written representations to its clients through at least four means: an

advisory agreement with clients; client account statements provided daily to clients; its
investment policies on Scntinel’s website; and Part I of Sentinel’s Form ADV filed with the
Commission.

18.  From at least July 2005, in its standard investment advisory agreement with
clients, Sentinel represented that the clients in each segregated portfolio owned an indirccet, pro
rata interest in their particular segregated investment portfolio. The Agreement also provided

discretionary authority to Sentincl to buy and scll securities without requesting authority from




